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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE MIDDLE DJ STRICT OF FLORIDA 
JacksonviJle Divisfon • • t\ ~. 

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES 
TRADING COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

ALLIED MARKETS LLC, 
JOSHUA GILLILAND, and 
CHAWALIT WONG KHJA O, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, 

CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY, AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIE.F 


Plaintiff United States Commodity Futures Trading Corn.mission ("CFTC") alleges as 

follows: 

I . SUMMARY 

l . Beginn ing as ea rly as January 20 12, Joshua Gilliland and Chawali t 

Wongkhiao, indiv idua lly and as principals of Allied Markets LLC ("A ll ied Markets") 

(collectively "Defendants"), have engaged in a fraudu lent scheme to solicit more than $I 

mill ion from members o f' che public to paJticipate in a supposed commodity pool purportedly 

trading leveraged or margined retail off-exchange foreign currency contracts, commonly 

known as "forex." 

2. As part of this illegal scheme Defendants misappropriated pool participants' 

funds to pay Gill iland 's and Wongk:hiao 's personal expenses. Gill iland and Wongkhiao 



treated pool participants' funds as their personal bank account, spending pool participants' 

money on restaurants, en tertainment, and living expenses. 

3. Defendants made material misrepresentations regarding their trading expertise 

and profits, and they fa iled to disclose to prospective and existing pool participants that only 

a small portion of their funds would be used to trade forex, while the rest would be 

misappropriated to pay Gilliland' s and Wongkhiao 's persona l expenses and to fi.irthcr 

Defendants' fraudu lent scheme. 

4. Defendants, who have never been registered as required wilh lhe CFTC, lured 

their victims into sending them funds for their purported commodity pool by fraudulently 

guaranteeing speci fic trading returns and by representing that Defendants' frwe:x tradi ng was 

generating l.arge profits. At Defendants' direction, pool participants deposited more than 

$ I million into bank accounts controlled by Defendants. When Defendants paid what they 

claimed to be trading profits to pool participants or supposedly returned pool participants' 

principal, they did so using money paid by other pool particjpants. in che manner ofa Ponzi 

scheme. 

5. By virtue of this conduct, and as more fully set forth below, Defendants have 

engaged, are engaging, and/or are about to engage in acts and practices in violation of 

Sections 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(l)(cc), 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C), 4k(2), 4m(l), and 4o(l) of the 

Commodity Exchange Act ('"CEA"), 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(C)(i ii)(l)(cc), 6b(a)(2)(A), (C), 

6k(2), 6m(l), 6o( I) (2012); and CFTC Regul ations 3.12,4.20(a)-(c), 4.4 1(a), 5.2(b)(1) and 

(3), 5.3(a)(2)(i), and 5.3(a)(2)(ii). 17 C.F.R. §§ 3. 12, 4.20(a)-(c), 4.41 (a), 5.2(b)(I), (3), 

5.3(a)(2)(i), (ii) (20 14). 
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II. JUlUSDTCTION AND VENUE 

6. This CourL possesses jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6c(a) of 

the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-J (2012), which authorizes the CFTC io seek injunctive and other 

relief against any person whenever it appears to the CFTC that such person has engaged, is 

engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provisjon 

of the CEA or any ru le, .regulation, or order thereunder. 

7. Venue properly lies in this District. pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the CEA, 

7 U.S.C. § L3a-l (e) (2012), because Defendants are found in, inhabit. and transact business 

in the Middle District ofFlorida, and Defendants' acts and practices in violation ofthe CEA 

occurred, are occurring. or are about to occur in this District. 

ill. PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff United States Commodity F utures Trading Commission is an 

independent federal regulatory agency charged by Congress wi th the adminislration and 

enforcement of the CEA and the CFTC Regu lations promulgated thereunder. The CFTC 

maintains its principal office at J 155 2Jst Street NW, Washington, DC 20581. 

9. DefendantAIJied Markets LLC is a Nevada limited li ability company 

organized on February 2, 2012, with a principal business address of 3225 McLeod Drjve, 

# I 00, Las Vegas, Nevada 89121. Allied Markets' Nevada business license expired on 

February 27, 201 3. On December 11, 2012, Al lied Markets registered as a fore ign limited 

liabil ity compnny with the Florida Department of State. All ied Markets' lasl known business 

address is 1431 Rivcrplace Boulevard, Unit 3604, Jacksonville, Florida 32207. Allied 

Markets has never been registered with the CFTC in any capacity. 
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I 0. DefendantJoshua Gilliland is an individual residing in Jacksonville, 

Plorida. Gilli land is a managing member ofAllied Markets. Gi lliland has never been 

registered with the CFTC in any capacity. 

11 . Defendant Chawalit Wongkbiao is an individual residing in Jacksonville, 

Florida. Wongkhiao is a managing member of Allied Markets. Wongkhiao has never bee11 

reg istered with the CFTC in a11y capacity. 

IV. RELEVANT STATUTES 

12. Section la(l l) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(J I) (2012), defines a commodity 

pool operator ("CPO"), in relevant patt, as any person who, for compensation or profit, 

engages in a business that is of the nature of a commodity pool, investment trust, syndicate, 

or similar form of enterprise, and who, in connection therewith, solicits, accepts, or receives 

from others, funds, securities, or property, either directly or through capital contributions, the 

sale of stock or other forms of securities, or otherwise, for the purpose of trading in 

commodity interests, including any commodity fo r future del ivery, security futures product, 

swap, or fo rex agreement, contract, or transaction. 

13. Section 2(c)(2)(C) ofthe CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C) (2012), applies 

provisions ofthe CEA to agreements, contracts, or transactions in forcx. Specifically, 

Section 2(c)(2)(C)(iv) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(iv) (2012), states that Section 4b of 

the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6b, applies to forex agreements, contracts, or transactions "as if" they 

were contracts of sale ofa commodity for future delivery. Seccion 2(c)(2)(C)(ii)(l ) of the 

CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(ii)(f) (2012), states that Sections 4b and 4o of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. 

§§ 6b. 60 (2012), apply to pooled investment vehicles that are offered for the purpose of 
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trading, or that trade, any forex agreement, contract., or transaction, and that involve persons 

or entities who are not "eligible contract participants," as that term is defined by Section 

la('l8) ofthe Act, 7U.S.C. § Ja(l8) (2012). 

14. Section 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C § 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) (2012), 

prohibits fraud in connection with any contract of sale of a11y commodjty for future deUvery 

that. is made, or to be made, for or on behalfof, or with, any other person, other than on or 

subject to the rules of a designated contract market. 

15. Section 4o(l) of che CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(l) (2012), prohibits fraud by any 

CPO, or an associated person of a CPO, by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality 

of interstate commerce. 

16. Section 4k(2) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6k{2) (2012), requirns registration with 

the CFTC for any person associated with a CPO as a partnet, officer, employee, consultant, 

or agent in any capacity that involves the solicitation of funds, securities, ot property for 

participation in a commodity pool. 

J7. Section 4m(1) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6m( I) (2012), makes it unlawful for 

any CPO, unless registered with the CFTC, to make use of the mails or any means or 

instrnmentality of interstate commerce in connection w.ith the business of the CPO. 

V. FACTS 

18. The Relevant Period for this Complaint is January 2012 through the present. 

] 9. Dm·ing the Relevant Period, All ied Markets, by and through Gi ll iland and 

Wongk:hiao, solic ited members of the public, by use of the mails and/or other means or 

instrumentalities of interstate. commerce, to send money to bank accounts under Defendants ' 
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control for the purpose of trading agreements, contracts, or transactions in forcx (foreign 

currency, offered to persons who were not eligible contract participants, and offered, or 

entered into, on a leveraged or margined basis) in a pm-ported commodity pool operated by 

Allied Markets. 

20. By undertaking these solicitations and accepting, funds for a commodity pool , 

Allied Markets, by and through Gilliland and Wongkhiao, acted as a CPO. 

2 I. Through their actions on behalf of Allied Markets, Gi lliland and Wongkhiao 

acted as associated persons of Allied Markets. the CPO. 

22. Neither Allied Markets, Gill.iland, nor Wongkhiao has ever been registered 

with the CFTC in any capacity. 

23. At least $1 million was deposited in accounts under Defendants' control for 

the purpose of trading forex. in a purported commodity pool operated by All ied Markets. 

24. OuJing the Relevant Period, at least one pool participant did not qualify as an 

"eligible contract participant," as that term is defined by Section I a( 18) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 

§ 1a(l8) (2012). ln addition~ the purported commodity pool operated by Allied Markets was 

not an eligible contract participant during the Relevant Period. 

25. On numerous occasions during the Relevant Period, including in or about June 

2012 and in or about July 20l 3, Defendants fraudulently represented to at least four 

prospective pool participants that Allied Markets' forex trading offered a safe investment 

with guaranteed returns, which pool pm-Licipants were due to receive on a 111011thly or annual 

basis. 
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26. Defendants knew these representations were false because, among other 

things, Defendants knew that the purported commodity pool opeJ"ated by Al lied Markets, by 

and througb Gilliland and Wongkhiao, sustained overall net losses in its forex trading 

account during the Relevant Period. 

27. Gil liland and Wongkhiao, acting 011 behalf of Allied Markets_. dfrected at least 

two pool participants to sign agreements with Allied Markets containing fraudu lent 

representations. Tbese agreements guaranteed rates of return on pool participants' principal 

of seven and ten percent, respectively. The agreements also provided that pool pmticipants 

could tenninate their agreement with Allied Markets and that their principal would be 

refunded upon sixty days1 notice. Wongkhiao signed the agreements as a "Managing 

Member" of All ied Markets. 

28. While the agreements Allied Markets executed with pool participants referred 

to investment returns as 1' interest," Defendants communicated to pool participants that their 

funds were to be pooled for trading in forex. and that returns would be derived from trad ing 

profits. At least one agre~ment Allied Markets executed with a pool participant expr~ssly 

stated that the pool would trade forex. 

29. During the Relevant Period, Defendants' representations prompted pool 

participants to provide Defendants at least $1 million for trading forex in the purported 

commodity pool operated by A llied Markets. Defendants m.isappropriated this money. 

30. Defendants directed pool participants to send fonds to bank accounts under 

their contml. In operating these bank accounts and accepting f'unds from pool participants, 

Defendants made no distinction between the purported commodity pool operated by All ied 
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Markets and Allied Markets as the CPO, and they comming'led their p~rsonal funds with 


funds contributed by pool participants. 


31. Gilliland and Wongkhiao, acting on behalfofAllied Markets, established a 

forex trading account in the name of, and for the benefit of, Allied Markets, not for the 

purp01ied commodity pool operated by Allied Markets. 

32. During the Relevant Period, the forex trading conducted by GiJiiland and/or 

Wongkhiao resu lted in a net loss of approximately $ 190,000. 

33. Defendants did not disclose these losses to pool participants. Rather, 

Defendants knowingly misrepresented to pool participants on multiple occasions during the 

Relevant Period, in person and via telepbone, that Defendants ' forex trading was profitable. 

34. While Defendants initially deposited some ofthe f1mds they received from 

pool participants into the Allied Markets forex trading account, Defendants used only a small 

portion of those funds for trading. 

35. Instead of trading forex as promised, dming the Relevant Period Defendants 

withdrew approximateJy $850,000 in pool partidpant funds from the All ied Markets forex 

trading account. 

36. Us ing pool participants' funds, Gilliland and Wongkhiao spent approximately 

$64~000 on restaurants and entertainment, approximately $33,000 on travel , hotels, and rental 

cars, and approximately $66,000 on rent for the ir residence in Jacksonville Beach , Florida. 

37. During the Relevanl Period, Gilliland and Wongkhiao also transferred at least 

$83,200 to their personal bank accounts, withdrew approximately$ l 05 ,000 in cash from 

automated teller machines, and withdrew approximately $34,000 in cash at bank branches. 
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38. Defendants also us¥d pool participant fonds to pay purported profits, to pay 

other personal expenses, and to further their fraudt1Jent scheme. Defendants fai l'ed to 

disclose to pool participants that Defendants did not invest all pool participant funds as 

promjsecl. 

39. During the Relevant Period, Defendants distributed approximately $48, I69 in 

purported gains to pool participants. Defe11dauts represented that these payments came from 

trading profits. Contrary lo their representations, Defendants made these payments from the 

deposits of other pool participants, in the mannei- of a Ponzi scheme. 

40.. Unless restrained and enjoined QY this Court>Defendants are likely to 

continue to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and similar acts and 

practices in violation of the CEA and CFTC Regulations. 

VI. 	 STATUTORY AND REGULATORY VIOLATIONS 

COUNT I 

FRAUD BY MISREPRESENTATION, OMISSION, AND MISAPPROPRIATION 
Violations of 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C) (2012) and 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b) (2014) 

41. The allegations in the foregoing paragraphs are inc.orporated by reference as if 

fully set forth herein. 

42. Section 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C § 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) (2012), 

makes it unlawful for any person, in or in connection with any order to make, or the making 

of, any contract of sale of any commodity for foture delivety that is made, or to be made, for 

or on behalf of, or with, any other person, other than 011 or su~jeci to the rnles ofa designated 

contract mar:ket 
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(A) to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud the other 
person; 

*** 
(C) willfully to deceive or attempt to decejve the other person by 
any means whatsoever in regard to any order or contract or the 
disposition or execution of any order or contract, or in regard to any 
act of agency performed, with respect to any order or contract for or 
.. . with the otbeJ person[.] 

43. C}'TC Regu lation 5.2(b)(l) and (3), 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(I), (3) (2014), makes it 

unlawful for any person, by use of the mails or by any means or instrumental ity of interstate 

commerce, directly or indirectJy, in or in connection with any retai l forex transaction: (l) to 

cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud any person; or (3) willful ly to deceive or 

attempt to deceive any person by any means whatsoever. 

44. As described herein, Defendants violated Section 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) ofthe 

CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C) (20J 2), and CFTC Regulation 5.2(b)(1) and (3), 

17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(l ), (3) (2014), by their material false statements and omissions to 

prospective and ex isting pool participants regarding Defendants' trading and profitability, by 

misappropriating pool participants' funds, and by failing to disclose that misappropriaLion to 

pool participants. 

45. Defendants engaged in the acts and practices descrjbed above using 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the use of interstate wires for transfer of 

funds. 

46. Defendants engaged in the acts and practices described herein willfully: 

knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the truth. 

47. The fotegoing acts and omissions by Gil liland and Wongkh iao occurred 

within the course and scope of their employment, office, and/or agency with Al lied Markets. 
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A llied Markets is thetefore. liable for those acts and omissions, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1 )(B) 

of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B) (2012), and CFTC Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2014). 

48. During the Relevant Period, Gilli land and Wongkhiao controlled Allied 

Markets directly or indi rectly, and they failed t~) act in good fa ith or knowingly induced, 

directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Allied Markets' vio lations of the CEA and CFTC 

Regulations. Gilliland and Wongkhiao are the1~efore liable for A lli.eel Markets' v iolations of 

the CEA and CFTC Regulations, pursuant to Section I 3(b) of the CEA, 7 U .S.C. § 13c(b) 

(2012). 

49. Each act ofmisrepresentation, material omission, or misappropriation 

including, but not limited to, those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and 

distinct violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C) 

(2012). 

COUNTll 

FRAUD BY A COMMODITY POOL OPERATOR 
Violations of 7 U.S.C. § 60(1) (2012) and 17 C.F .R. § 4.4l (a) (2014) 

50. The allegations in the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if 

fu lly set forth herein. 

51. Section 4o(1) ofthe CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(2012), makes it unlawful for a 

CPO, or an associated person of a CPO, by use of the maiJs or any means or instrumental ity 

of interstate commerce, directly or indirectly 

(A) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any cl ient 
or pruiicipant or prospective client or participant; or 
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(B) to engagG in any transaction~ practice., or course of business 
which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or patiicipant or 
prospective client or participant. 

52. CFTC Regulation 5.4, 17 C.F.R. § 5.4 (2014), states thatPart 4 ofthe CFTC's 

Regulations, 17 C.F.R. § 4.1 et seq. (2014), applies to any person required to register as a 

CPO pursuant to Part 5 of the CFTC's Regulations relating to forex transactions, 17 C.F.R. 

§ 5.1 et seq. (2014). 

53. As alleged herein, Al lied Markets was required to register as a CPO during the 

Relevant Period. 

54. CFTC Regulation 4.4 1(a), 17 C.F.R. § 4.4J(a) (2014), makes it unlawful for 

any CPO, or any principal thereof, to publish, distribute, or broadcast, whether by electronic 

media or otherwise, any report, letter, circu lar, memorandum, publication, writing, 

adve1tisement, or other literature or advice that 

(1) Employs any dev ice, scheme or artifice to defraud any 
participant or cl ient or prospective participant or client; [or] 

(2) Involves any transaction, practice or course of business which 
operates as a fraud or deceit upo.n any participant or client or any 
prospective participant or client[.] 

55. During the Relevant Period, Allied Markets acted as a CPO in that it engaged 

in a business that is of the nature of a commodity pool, investment trust, syndicate, or similar 

form of enterprise, and, in connection therewith, solicited, accepted , or received funds, 

securities, or property from ofoers for the purpose of trading forex. 

56. During the Relevant Period, Gilliland and Wongkhiao were principals and/or 

agents ofAllied Markets, and acted as associated persons ofAllied Markets, in that they 

solicited and accepted funds, securit ies, or property for Allied Markets. 
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57. During the Relevant Period, Allied Mark~ts (acting as a CPO) and Gilliland 

and Wongk11iao (acting as associated persons of Allied Markets), through the use of the mails 

or other means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce (includjng tlu-ough the use of 

telephone calls a11d e lectronic mai I with prospective and existing pool pruiicipants), vio lated 

Section 4o(l) ofthe CEA, 7 U .S.C. § 60(1) (2012), by: (i) misappropriating pool participants ' 

funds; and (ii) through their material false statements and omissions to prospective and 

existing pool participants about Allied Markets' forex tradfng and profitabi lity. 

58. During the Relevant Period, Allied Markets (acting as a CPO) and Gil liland 

and Wongkhiao (acting as principals ofAllied Markets) violated CFTC Regu lation 4.41(a), 

17 C.F.R. § 4.4l(a) (2014), by: Ci) misappropriating pool participants ' funds; and (i i) through 

their material false statements and omissions to existing and prospective pool participants 

abmtt Allied Markets' forex trnding and profitabi lity. 

59. Defendants engaged in the acts and practices described herein willfully, 

knowingly, or with reckless disregard fol· the truth. 

60. The foregoing acts and omissio11s by Gi l.Ii land and Wongkh iao occurred 

within the course and scope of their employment, office, and/or agency with Allied Markets. 

Allied Markets is therefore liable for those acts and omissions, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1 )(B) 

of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B) (2012), and CFTC Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2014). 

61. During the Relevant Period, G ill iland and Wongkhiao controlled Allied 

Markets directly or indirectly, and Lhey fai led to act in good faith or knowingly induced, 

directly or indirectly, the acts constitutjng AJ lied Markets ' violations of the CEA and CFTC 

Regulations. Gill iland and Wongkh iao are therefore liable for Allied Markets' violations of 
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tl1e CEA and CFTC Regulations 1 pursuant to Section I 3(b) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § l3c(b) 

(20 12). 

62. Each act of misrepresentation, material omission, or misappropriation, 


including, but not limited to, those specifically al leged herein, is alJegcd as a separate and 


distinct v iolation of Section 4o(L) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1) (2012). 

CO UNT Ill 

FAILURE TO REGJSTER AS A COMMODITY POOL OPERATOR 

Viola tions of 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc), 6m(J) (2012) a nd 


17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2){i) (2014) 


63. The allegations in the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated by reference as ir 

fully set forth herein. 

64. Section 4rn(1 ) of the CEA, 7 U .S.C. § 6m(l) (2012), makes it unlawful fo r 

any CPO, unless registered with the CFTC, to make use of the mails or any means or 

instrumentality of interstate commerce in connection with its business as a CPO. 

65. Section 2(c)(2)(C)(ii i)(J)(cc) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)0)(cc) 

(2012), makes it unlawful for any person, unless registered in such capacity as t he CFTC 

shall determine, to operate or so licit funds, securities, or property for any pooled investment 

vehjcle that js not an el igible contract participant in connection with agreements, contracts, or 

transactions described in Section 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the CEA. 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(i) (2012) 

(leveraged or margined forex transactions), entered into with or to be entered into with a 

person who is not described in item (aa), (bb), (ee), or (ff) of Section 2(c)(2)(8)(i)(I1) of the 

CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(B)(i)(ll) (2012) (describing counlerparties such as such as registered 

futures commission merchants). 
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66. CFTC Regulation 5.3(a)(2)(i), 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(i) (20 14), requires any 

CPO, as defined by CFTC Regulations, lo .register with the CFTC. CFTC Regulation 

5. l(d)( l ), 17 C.F.R. § 5. l (d)( l) (2014), defines a CPO as any person who .. operates or 

solicits funds, securities, or property for a pooled investment vehicle .. . that engages in retail 

fo rex transactions." 

67. During the Relevant Period, Allied Markets, by and through its employees. 

principals, agents, and/or controll ing persons. including Gilliland and Wongkhiao, acted as a 

CPO because il operated or solicited funds, securities, or property for a pooled itwestment 

vehicle that was not an eligible contract participant and engaged in forex transactions. Allied 

Markets, by and through Gilli land and Woogkhiao, acted as a CPO while failing lo register 

with the CFTC as a CPO. 

68. During the Relevant Period, Allied Markets, by and through its employees, 

principals, agents, and/or controlling persons, including Gill iland and Wongkhiao, operated 

and solicited funds, securities, or property for a pooled investment vehicle lbat engaged in 

forex transactions, without having registered with the CFTC as a CPO, in violation of CFTC 

Regulation 5.3(a)(2)(i), l 7 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(i) (2014). 
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COUNT IV 

FAILURE TO REGISTER AS ASSOCIATED PERSONS 
Violations of 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc), 6k(2) (2012) and 

17 C.F.R. §§ 3.12 and 5.3(a)(2)(ii) (2014) 

69. The allegations in the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if 

fully set forth herein. 

70. Secti~m 4k(2) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2) (2012), and CFTC Regulation 

5.3(a)(2)(ii), 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(ii) (2014), require registration with the CFTC for any 

person who is associated with a CPO as a partner, officer, employee, consultant, or agent (or 

any person occupying a similar status or perfonning simi lar funct ions), in any capacity that 

involves the solicitation of funds, securities, or property for participation in a commodjty 

pool or the supervision ofany person or persons so engaged. 

71. Section 4k(2) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2) (201.2), also makes it unlawful for 

any CPO to permit any person not registered with the CFTC as requjred to become or remain 

associated with the CPO in any capacity described in the preceding paragraph when the CPO 

knew or should have known that such person was not registered with the CFTC or that such 

registration had expired, been suspended (and the period ofsuspension has notexpired), or 

been revoked. 

72. CFTC Regulation 3.12, 17 C.F.R. § 3.12 (2014), prohibits any person from 

being associated witb a CPO as an associated person unless that person shall have registered 

with the CFTC as an associated person ofthat sponsoring CPO. 

73. Section 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc) ofthe CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc) 

(2012)1 makes it unlawful for any person, unless registered in such capacity as the CFTC 
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shall determine, to operate or so.licit funds, securities, :or property for any pooled investment 

vehicle that is 11ot a11 eligible contract participant in connectjon with agreements, contracts, or 

transactions described in Section 2(c )(2)(C)(i) of the CEA, 7 U .S.C. § 2(c )(2)(C)(i) (20 J2) 

(leveraged or margined forex transactions), entered into with or to be entered jnto with a 

person who is not described in item (aa), (bb), (ee), or (ft) ofSection 2(c)(2)(B)(i)(11) of the 

CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(B)(i)(Il) (2012) (describing counterparties such as such as registered 

futures commission merchants).CFTC Regulation 5. J(d)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 5.l(d)(2) (20 14), 

defines an associated person, fo r purposes of Part 5 of the CFTC's Regulations relating to 

forex transactions, as any naturaJ person associated with a CPO (as that term is defined in 

CFTC Regulation 5.1 (d)(I), 17 C.f .R. § 5.l(d)(l) (2014)) as a pa11ner, officer, employee, 

consultant, or agent that is involved in the solicitation offw1ds, securities, or property, or the 

supervision ofany sucb person so engaged. 

74. During the Relevant Period, Gilliland and Wongkhiao, who have never been 

registered with the GFTC in any capacity: (i) solicited funds, securities, or property for 

participation in a commodity pool operated by Al I ied Mai:kets and/ot: supervised persons so 

engaged; and (ii) operated or solicited funds, securities, or property for the Allied Markets 

pooled investment vehicle, which was not an eligible contract participant, in connection with 

off-exchange leveraged or ma1·gined forex contracts or transactions. These actions vioJated 

Sections 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(T)(cc) and 4k(2) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(f)(cc), 4k(2) 

(2012), and CFTCRegu1ations 3.12 and 5.3(a)(2)(i i), 17 C.}'.R. §§ 3.12, 5.3(a)(2)(ii) (2014). 
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COUNTY 


FAILURE TO OPERATE COMMODITY POOL AS A SEPARATE LEGAL ENTITY, 

IMPROPER ACCEPTANCE OF FUNDS, AND COMMINGLING OF POOL FUNDS 


Violations of 17 C.F.R. §4.20(a)-(c) (2014) 


75. The allegation s in the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if 

fully set fo11h here in . 

76. CFTC Regulation 5.4, 17 C.P.R. § 5.4 (2014), states that Part 4 of the CFTC' s 

Regulations, 17 C.P.R. § 4.1 el seq. (2014), appl ies to any person required to register as a 

CPO pursuant to Part 5 of the CFTC' s Regulations relating to forex transactions, 17 C.F.R. 

§ 5.1 el seq. (20 I 4). 

77. CFTC Regulation 4.20(a), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(a) (2014), requires a CPO to 

operate its commodity pool as a legal entHy separate from that of the CPO. 

78. CFTC Regulation 4.20(b), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(b) (2014), requires that all funds , 

securities. or other property received by a CPO from a prospective or existing pool 

participant must be received in the commodity pool' s name. 

79. CFTC Regulation 4.20(c)J 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2014), prohibits a CPO from 

commingling the property ofany pool il operates with the property of any other person. 

80. During the Relevant Period, /\I lied Markets, acting through Gilliland and 

Wongkhiao and while acting as a CPO, violated CFTC Regulation 4.20(a)-(c), I 7 C.F.R. 

§ 4.20(a)-(c) (2014), by: (i) failing to operate the commodity pool as a lega l entity separate 

from Allied Markets, the CPO; (ii) receiving pool participant funds the name of A llied 

Markets, rather than in the name of the commodity pool; and (iii) commingling the properly 

of the commodity pool with the funds ofAllied Markets, Giliiland. and/or Wongkhiao. 
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VII. RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, the CFTC respectfully requests that this Court, as authorized by 

Section 6c of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2012), and pursuant to the Court's inherent 

equitable powers, enter: 

A . An order finding that Defendants violated Sections 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(l)(cc). 

4b(a)(2)(A) and (C), 4k(2), 4m, and 4o(J) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(C)(jii)(J)(cc), 

6b(a)(2)(A), (C), 6k(2), 6111, 6o(l) (2012); and CFTC Regulations 3.12, 4 .20(a)-(c), 4.41 (a), 

5.2(b)(l) and (3), 5.3(a)(2)(i), and 5.3(a)(2)(ii), J7 C.F. R. §§ 3.J 2, 4.20(a)~(c), 4.41 (a): 

5.2(b)(l), (3). 5.3(a)(2)(i), (ii) (2014); 

B. An order ofpermanent injunction prohibiting Defendants, and any other 

person or entity associated with them, from engaging in conduct that violates Sections 

2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(l)(cc), 4b(a)(2)(A) and (C), 4k(2). 4m, and 4a(l) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. 

§§ 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)0)(cc), 6b(a)(2)(A), (C), 6k(2), 6m, 6o(l) (2012); or CFTC Regulations 

3.1 2, 4.20(a)-(c), 4.4 l (a), 5.2(b)(J) and (3), 5.3(a)(2)(i), and 5.3(a)(2)(ii), 17 C.f.R. §§ 3.J 2, 

4.20(a)-(c), 4.4J (a), 5.2(b)(I). (3), 5.3(a)(2)(i), (ii) (2014); 

C. An order ofpermanent injunction prohibiting Defendants, and any of their 

agents, servants, employees, successo1·s, assigns, attott1eys, and persons acting in active 

concert or participation with Defendants1 inducling any successor thereof, from, directly or 

indirectly: 

(I) Trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity (as that term 

is defined in Section la(29) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § la(29) (2012)); 
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(2) Entering into any transactions involving commodity futures, options 

on commodity futures, commodity options (as that term is defined in CFTC 

Regulation 32.l(b)(J ), 17 C.F.R. § 32. l (b)(J )) ("commodity options"), 

security futures products, foreign currency (as described in Sections 

2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B), 2(c)(2)(C)(i) 

(201.2)) ("forex"), and/or swaps (as that term is defined in Section 1a(47) of 

the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § I a(47) (2012)) for any Defendant' s personal or 

proprietary account or for any account in which any Defendant has a direct or 

indirect interest; 

(3) Having any commodity futures, options ·on commodity futures, 

commodity options, security futures pmducts, forex contracts, and/or swaps 

traded on any Defendant' s behalf; 

(4) Contro ll ing or directing the trading for, or on behalf of, any other 

person or ent·ity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account 

involving commodity futures, options on commodity futures~ commodity 

options~ security futures products, forex contrncts, and/or swaps; 

(5) Soliciting, receiving, ot accepting any funds frotn any person for the 

purpose ofpurchasing or selling any conuuodity futures, options on 

commodity ftttures, commodity options, security futures products, fo rex 

contracts, and/or swaps; 

(6) Applyingfor registration or claiming exemption from registration with 

the CFTC in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such 
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registration or exemption from registration with the CFTC, except as provided 

for in CPTC Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2014); 

(7) Acting as a pdncipal (as that tenn is defined in CFTC Regulation 

3.1 (a), 17 C.F.R. § 3.1 (a) (2014)), agent or any other officer or employee of 

any person or entity registered, exempted from registration or required to be 

registered with the CFTC, except as provided for in CFTC Regulation 

4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.1 4(a)(9) (2014); 

(8) Engaging in any business activity related to commodity futures, 

options on commodity futures, commodity options, swaps, security futures 

JJroducts, and/or forex contracts; 

D. An order directing Defondants_, as well as any successors thereof, to disgorge, 

pursuant to such procedure as the Court may order, all benefits t'eceived from the acts or 

practices constituting v iolations of the CEA and CFTC Regiilations, as described herein, and 

pre- and post-judgment interest thereon from the date of such violations; 

E. A n order directing Defendants, as well as ru1y successors thereof, to make full 

restitution, pursuant to such procedure as the Court may order, to every customer or pool 

participant whose funds any Defendant received, or caused another person or entity to 

receive, as a result of the acts and practices constituting violations of the CEA and CFTC 

Regulations, as described herein, ru1d pre- and post-judgment interest thereon from the date 

of such violations; 

F. An order directing Defendants, as well as any successors thereof, to rescind, 

pursuant to such procedures as the Court may order, all contracts and agreements, whether 
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implied or express, entered into between them and any customer or pool participant whose 

funds any Defendant received as a result ofthe acts and practices constituting violations of 

the CEA ru1d CFTC Regulations, as described herein; 

G. An order directing Defendants, as well as any successors thereof, to pay a 

civi l moneta ry penalty, plus post-judgment interest, for each violation of the CEA and CFTC 

Regulations described herein, in the am.c unt of the greate r of: (i) $ 140,000 for each violation 

com milted; or (ii) triple Defendants ' monetary gain for each violation committed; 

H. An order requiring Defendants to pay costs and fees as permitted by 28 U .S.C. 

§§ 1920 and 2412 (2012); and 

I. An order directing such further reJ ief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated: January 5, 2015 Respectfully submitted, 

By:U fJ2Ld 
i6nathan P. Robe11 
D C Bar No. 493977 
Email: jrobetl@cftc.gov 

JonaJ1 E. McCarthy 
DC Bar No. 492480 
Email: jmccarrhy@cftc.gov 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
U.S. COMMOOTTY FUTUll. ES TRAUING COMNUSSION 

11 55 21st Street NW 
Washington, DC 20581 
Tel: (202)418-5000 
Fax: (202) 418-5538 
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